
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

UNI'rED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

CHARTWORLD SHIPPING 
CORPORATION, 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Crim. No, 1:19-cr-58-RGA 

MEMORANDUM OF PLEA AGREEMENT 

The United States of America, by and tlu·ough David C. Weiss, United States 

Attornet for the Distl'ict of Delawai-e, Jean E. Williams, Deputy Assistant Attorney 

General for the Environment and Natural Resomces Division, Edmond Falgowski, 

Assistant United States Attorney for the District of Delaware, David P. Kehoe, Senior 

Trial Attorney,_and Stephen Da Ponte, 'Ii:inl Attorney for the Environtnental Crimes 

Section of the Depaxtment of Justice, (collectively referred to herein as the 

"govethment"), and the Defendant Chartworld Shipping Corporation ("Chartwol'ld"), by 

and through its authorized representative, enter into the following Memorandum of 

Plea Agreement ('.Agreement") pUl'suant to Rule ll(c)(l)(C) and Rule ll(c)(3) of the 

Fedei-al .Rules of Criminal Procedure: 

1. Legal Fi-amework 

The United States is part of an international regime that 1·egulate~ ~he discharges 

of oil from vessels at sea known as the Inte1·national Convention for the Prevention of 
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Pollution from Ships, as modified by the Protocol of 1978 (MARPOL Protocol). The. 

MARPOL Protocol was enacted into United States law by the Act to P1·event Pollution 

from Ships (APPS). 33 U.S.C. § 1901, et seq. APPS and its 1·egulations apply to foreign­

flagged vessels like the MN NEDERLAND REEFER while operating in United States 

waters, or while at a port or tetminal under the jurisdiction of the United States, 33 

C.11.R § 15l.09(a)(5). To facilitate enforcement, the United States Coast Guard 

(USCG) is empowered under 14 U.S.C. § 522(a) to board vessels and conduct inspections 

and investigations of potential viola.tions of international and United States law, 

including the MARPOL Protocol and APPS. The USCG is specifically authorized to 

examine the vessel and vessel's required record b6oks to determine, among other things, 

whether the vessel has operable pollution prevention equipment and appropriate 

operating procedures; whether it poses any danger to United States' ports and waters; 

and whether the vessel has discharged any oil or oily mixture in violation of the 

MARPOL Protocol, APPS, or any applicable federal regulations. ,33 C.F.R. § 151.23(a)(3) 

and (c). 

Tho operations of large matine vessels like the M/V NEDERLAND REEFER 

generate oily bilge water created when water mixes in the bottom of the vessel, known 

as the "bilges," with oil that has leaked and dripped from the machinery and the 

lubrfriation and fuel system for the engines. These "oily mixtures" are often referred 

to as "bilge waste," "bilge slops,'' and "slops, from bilges," and are collected, stored, and 
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processed to separate the water from the oil and other wast.es using a pollution 

prevention control device known as an Oily Water Separator (OWS) and oil-sensing 

device known as an Oil Content Monitor (OCM). Pursuant to MARPOL, bilge waste 

may only be discharged ovel'board after passing thtough an OWS to ensure that it 

contains 15 parts pe1· million (ppm) or less of oil, as measu1'ed by the OCM. If the 

OGM detects an oil content of greate1· than 15 ppm in the effluent, it sounds an alarm, 

and shuts down the pumps and/or dive1ts flow back to the bilges or bilge holding ta11ks 

in owler to prevent the dischru·ge of gi·eater than 15 ppm of oil overboard. 

MARPOL and APPS regulations require that vessels other than oil tankers with 

a weight of :more than 400 gross tons such as the MN NEDERLAND REEFER, maintain 

a record known as an Oil Record Book (ORB). The ORB must fully I'.ecord, on a tank~to~ 

tank basis, all operations involving the discharg-0 overboard and disposal of bilge water 

that has accumulated in machinery spaces, and thus may be contaminated with oil. 33 

GFR § 151.25(d) and (h); MARPOL, Annex I Regulation 17 and Appendix IlI (Form. of 

ORB). The ORa must also record internal transfe1·s of bilge wa:ter to holding tanks prior 

to it beint;l" discharged overboard or being otherwise diS})osed of. 

2. Qriminal Charges. The Defendant shall ente.r a guilty plea to Counts 1 

and 2 0£ the Indictment. At sentencing, the government will dismiss the Counts Three 

through Six of the Indictment. 

1. Count One: Failu1·e to notify of a hazard.oua condition. Specifi.cally, 
between on or abottt Febi-uary 9, 2019, and February 22, 2019, in the Breakwater 
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Anchorage, Dolaware Bay, Delaware, and within the District of Delaware, and 
elsewhere, the Defendant, acting through its agents and employees who were acting 
within the scope of their agency and employment and for the intended benefit 9f the 
Defendant at least in paxt, did willfully and knowingly fail to notify the United States 
Coast Guard that a hazardous condition existed on board the M/V NEDERLAND 
REEFER. namely a hull breach below the water line of the vessel that occurred on or 
about December 29, 2018, and the subsequent incursion of seawater into the ve.ssel's 
Bilge Holding Tank, in violation of Title 46, United States Code, Section 70086(b)(l); 
'l'itle 18, United States Code, Section 2; and Title 33, Code of Federal Regulations, 
Section 160.216. 

2. Count 'l'wo: Knowing failure to maintain an accuraM Oil Record Book, 
for the M/V NEDERLAND REEFER Specifically, on or about Fehl'uary 21, 2019, in 
the Breakwater Anchorage, Delaware Bay, Delaware; and within the Disti·ict of 
Delaware, and elsewhere, Defendant, acting through at least one a;gent 01· employee 
who was acting within the scope of µis agency o:r employment and for the intended 
benefit -0f the Defendant, at least in part, did knowingly ca'l.ls(l the failur~-to maintain 
an accurate Oil Record Book for the M/V NEDERLAND REEFER while in U.S. waters 
in which all disposals of oil residue, overboard discharges and !fu;posa.ls otherwise of 
oily mixtures, slops from bilges and bilge waste that accumulated in machinery space 
were fully recorded. Sp.ecifically, the Defendant callsed to be maint1;tined an Oil 
Record Book that: (1) failed to record the transfer of oily bilge water between the_ 
vessel's Bilge Holding Tank and Aft Peak Ballast Tank on 91,· about Decembe1· so, 
20181 (2) failed to record the subsequent discharge overboard of the contents of the Aft 
Peak Ballast Tank, and (3) falsely recorded that discharge$ of machinery space bilge 
water had been properly made through the reqiiu-ed pollution prevention equipment, 
in violation of Title 33; United States Oode, Section 1908(a), Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 2, Title 33 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 151.25, and 1\1:ARPOL 
Annex I , Regulation 17. 

3. The Penalties. 'I'he Defendant understands that the statutory penalties 

applicable to a coi·porate defendant for each felony count to which it is e~tering a plea 

of guilty are M , follows: a maximum fine of either $500,000, ox twice the gross pecuniary 

gain 01· loss resulting from the unlawful conduct, pursuant to 18 U,S.C. §, 357l(c) and 

(d), a term of probation of five ycar.s, pursuant to 18U.S.C. § 8561(c)(l), and a special 
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assessment of $400, puriruant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(2)(B). The Defendant understands 

that, in addition to any other penalty, the Court may order the payment of restitution 

to any victim of ~he offense pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, Uriited States Code, 

Section 3663. The parties ru:e not aware of any identifiable victims of this offense. 

4. Applicability of Sentencing Guidelines. The Defendant understands and 

acknowledges that, at sentencing, the Court is requixed to consider the United States 

Sentencing Guidelines (U.S.S.G.), togethe.r with the other sentencing goals set forth in 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(a). The Defendant understands and 

a.cknowledges that the government contends that the U.S.S.G., including Chapte1· Eight 

that provides guidance fol' the sentencing of corporate defendant's, may he considered 

by the Coittt, except that, pursuant to U.S.S.G. §§ 8C2.1 and 802.10, the guidelines 

which pertain to the sentencing of organizations -do uot dete1•mine the fine range in cases 

involving environmental crimes. Instead,. the fine is to be detm.'lll.ined under 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 3553 and 3571. All other sections of Chapter Eight of the Sentencing Guidelines 

that are applicable to cm·porate defendants a1·e applicable to this case. 

5. Sentencing. Pursuant to Rule 1 l(c)(l)(C) of the l<"ederalRules of Criminal 

Procedure, and in retm·n for the complete fulfillment by the Defendant of all of its 

obligations under this Agreement, the government and Defendant agree that the 

sentence to be imposed by the Court includes a total monetary penalty of $900,000 plus 
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the mandatory special assessment discussed below. The parties agree that the sentence 

should be imposed as follows: 

a. Criminal Fine_: The parties stipulate and agree that the $900,000 

total criminal fine shall be appo1-tioned. as follows : (1) $450,000 for Count One, and (2) 

$450,000 for Count Two. 

b. Mandatory Special .e,1,sessment: Defendant Nederland shall pay a 

total special assessment of$800. 

c. Payments: Defendant further agrees that if the terms of this Rule 

ll(c)(l)(O) Plea Agreement are accepted by the Court, that the criminal fine and special 

assessment shall be paid within thirty days of sentencing, unless otherwise ordered by 

the Court. Payment of the c1·iminal fine and special assessment is to be made in the 

form of a check payable to ''United States District Coui·t Clerli' or in the form of a wire 

transfe1· if deemed acceptable by the Cou1·t Clerk. 

cl APPS Monetary Award. Section 1908(a) of APPS provides that, in 

the discl'etion of the Court, an amount of not mol'e than one-half of such fine attributable 

to the APPS count may be paid to a person or persons giving information leading to 

conviction. The Defendant agrees that they will not oppose any motion that the 

government may file in this case tecommending that the Court exercise its dL"!cretion 

and issue a monetary award to any crewmember(s) who s01-ved on board the MN 

NEDERLAND REEFER and provided information leading to the conviction. 
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e. Probation: The Defendant will be placed on probation for a period 

offo1.n· years from the date of sentencing pmsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3561(c)(l) and U.S.S.G. 

§§ BDl.1 and 8Dl.2. The terms of probation shall include the following specific 

provisions, in addition to the Court's standa1:d conditions for defen.dant corporations: 

(1) No Further Violation~. The Defendant agrees that it shall 

commit no further violations of the MARPOL Protocol, fedel'al, state or local law, and 

shall conduct all its ope1·ations in accordance with environmental laws of the United 

States. 

(2) Payments. The Defendant agrees to make paymentin full of 

the monetary amounts set forth herein, including all sp(?cial assessments and fines. 

(3) Environmental Compliance Plan. The Defendant agrees to 

fund and implement an Environmental Compliance Plan ("ECP") applicable to 

Defendant's vessels, during Defendant's term of pl'obation, consistent with sentencing 

policies set forth in U.S.S.G. § 8DL4-. The ECP is set out at Exhibit B. 

6. Applic~tion r£the Agreement. This Agreement shall bind the Defendant 

and all its successors and assigns. No change in name, change in corporate or 

individual control, corporate 1·eorganization, change in ownership, mel'ger, change of 

legal status, sale or purchase of vessels, signing or termination of ship management 

contracts, or simila:i· action shall alter the responsibilities of the Defendant under this 
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Agreement. The Defendant shall not engage in any action to seek to avoid the 

obligations and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

7. Cooperation. As pai-t of this Agreement, the Defendant agrees that it will 

coopeTate in any fui-ther investigation and/or prosecution of individuals in connection 

with potential violations of MARPOL, APPS, and any related acts of obstruction 

involving the MN NEDERLAND REEFER. 

8. State:nients. This Agreement does not limit the right of the Defendant Ol' 

the government to speak at the time of sentencing consistent with the provisions set 

forth in this Plea Agreement, and to provide the Court and the United States Probation 

Office with evidence of all relevant conduct committed by the Defendant. The parties 

agree that at sentencing each will support the agreed disposition set forth in this 

Agreement pursuant to Rule 1 l(c)(l)(C) of the ll'ederal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

9. No1,1-Prosecution of Additional Offenses. As part of this Agreement and 

the p1·omiscs made by the Defendant in this Agl'eement, the United States Attorney's 

Office for the District of Delaware and the Environmental Crim.es Section of the United 

States Department of Justice agree to forgo criminal prosecution agai;nat the Defendant 

and Defendant's ccfrporate parent(s), subsidiaries, affiliated or related companies, 

,successors, or assigns for any additional offenses or related offenses, including but not 

.limited to, fal<;ification of oil te,:ord books or violations of APPS occru'i·ing before the date 

of this Agreement and which are known to the government at the time of acceptance of 
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this Agreement by the Court,. whether relating to the M/V NEDERLAND REEFER. 

'l'he Defendant understands and agrees that neither this pru·agraph no1· this Agreement 

limit the prosecuting authority of any other sections or divisions of the Department of 

Justice, including the United States Attomey of any judicial district not a party to this 

Ag1:eement, or any other federal, state 01· local regulatory or prosecuting 1;tuthorities. 

Furthermore, this Agreement does not provide or p1·omise any waivel' of any civil or 

administrative actions, sanctions, or penalties that may apply, including but not limited 

to: fine$, penalties, claims for damages to natm;al resom·ces, suspe:i;i.sion, debarment, 

listing to restrict rights and opportunities of the. Defendant t~ contl'act with or receive 

assistanco, loans,. and benefits from United States agencies, licensing, injunctive relief, 

or remedial action to comply with any applicable regulatory l'equirement. '!'his Plea 

Agreement has no effect on any proceedings against any individuals. 

10. Breach of the Agreement. If the Defendant has failed to coniplywithany 

provision of this Agieeme:nt before the judgment is rendered, or has committed any 

ci'ime within the jurisdiction of the United States during the pendcncy of this 

Agr~ement before judgment is rendered, the govemment m1;1.y, at its sole option, be 

released from its commitments to the Defendant under this Agreement in their entirety 

by notifying the Defendant, through ~ounsel ol' otherwise, in wl.'iting. The government 

may also pursue all remedies available under the law against the Defendant irrespective 

of whether it elects to be released from its commitments unde1· this Agreement. The 
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Defendant recognizes that no such hl'each by it of any obligation under this Agreement 

shall give rise to grounds for withdrawal of its guilty plea. The Defendant understands 

that should it commit any such b1·each of this Agreement, then the government will have 

the right to use against the Defendant before any grand jury, at a.ny trial, hearing or for 

sentencing purposes, any statements made by Defendant's employees and agents, and 

any infol'mation, materials, document..c:i Ol' objects provid~d by t~e De.fendant to the 

government pmsuant to this Agreement without any limitation, except fo1· any 

statements, information or documents provided in the course of settlement discussions 

pursuant to Rule 11 and Fede.ral Rule of Evidence 410. In this rega1·d, the Defendant 

hereby waives any defense to any charges which it might otherwise have under any 

statute of limitations, pre-indictment delay, or the Speedy '!'rial Act £or one hundred 

twenty days following ahy bl·each of the Agreement, except to the extent that such 

defenses existed as of the date of the signing of this; Agreement. 

11. Information for P1·obation Office. The Defendant agrees to provide all 

available information requested by the United States Probation Office for the District 

of Delaware. The parties will jointly 1·equest the Com·t to waive a pte-sentencing report 

(PSR). 

12. Withdrawal of Agreement. The Def~ndant's plea will be tendered 

pursuant to &tle ll(c)(l)(C) of the Federal Rules of C1-iminal Procedure. If the 

sentencing judge rejects this Agreement, then it sh~ll be null and void at the option of 
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either the govei.'nment or the Defendant. In this 1·egatd, the Defendant hereby waives 

any defense to any charges under any statute of limitations, for pre-indictment delay, 

or under the Speedy Trial Act for one hundred and twenty days following any 

nullification or voiding of the Agreement. 

13. Corpo1·ate Authorization. The Defendant represents that itis authorized 

to enter into this Ag'l.'eement and to bind itself to its te1·ms. At the time of signing this 

Agreement, the Defendant shall p1·ovide to the government a written statement in the 

form of notarized legal document certifying that the Defendant is authorized to enter 

into and comply with all of the ptovisions of this Ag1:eement. The 1-esolution further 

shall certify that the Defendant's Board of Dil:ectors has authorized these actions, and 

that all corporate formalities fol" such authorizations have been 9bserved. 

14. Appellate and Other Waivers. The Defendant, through its authorized 

representative., is aware that 18 U.S.C. § 3742 and 28 U.S.C. §2255 afford every 

defendant ce1·tain 1:ights to contest a conviction and/or sentence. Acknowledging those 

rights, t;he Defendant, in exchange for the concessions made by th~ govermrient in this 

PleaAgr.ee.ment, waives the right to contest eithei· the conviction or the sentence in any 

direct appeal or othe1: post-conviction action, including any proceedings under 18 U.S. C. 

§ 2255. This · waiver does not apply to claims of ineffective assistance 0£ counsel, 

prosecutorial misconduct, or futul'e changes in the law that affect the Defendant's 

sentence. This-Agreement does not limit the government in its comments in or respons~s 

to any post-sentencing mattei•s. After acceptance~ of this Plea Agreement by the Court, 
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the gove1·nment wi11 a1·range for the 1·eturn of all original documents, manuals, vessel 

equipment, and reco1·ds seized from the vessel by. the United States Coast Guard. The 

Defendant undcrst~nds that the government might not preserve any evidence obtained 

in this case and in no way shall the Defendant rely on the .govei·nment pxeserving 

evidence for any purpos_e. 'fhe Defendant hereby waives any cl.aim to any physical 

evidence, papers, or l:llectronic media in the possession, custody, 01· control of tho 

government, with the exception of the p1·eviously referred-to originals and equipment 

which are to be returned cm Defendant's acceptance of the plea. The.Defendant-waives 

any furthe1· disclosUJ.'e or discove1·y from th,~ government in this case. The Defendant 

further waives any and all rights under the Freedom of Information Act · relating to the 

investigation and prosecution of the above-captioned mat.t~r and further agl'ees not to 

file a request fo1· case-related documents from any agency or department of the 

Executive Branch except as relates to a pending civil claim. Further, the Defendant 

waives any right to seekattomey's fees or litigation expenses under 18 U.S.C. § 3006A 

(the "Hyde Amendment"), and the Defendant acknowledges that th(;! government's 

position in the instant prosecution was not vexatious, frivolous, or in bad faith. The 

Defendant further agrees that the Defendant and any a.gents acting on its behalf now 

or in the future, waives any and all claims against the United States Coast Guard, U.S. 

Depa1-tment of Homeland Security, or agent, employee, or contractor of eithei' 

governmental entity, which relate to any aspect of the inspection, examination, and 

detention of the MN NEDERLAND REEFERi including any related surety 01· security 
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agreement except as relates to a pending civil claim. 'rhe United States Coast Guard 

will be notified and requested t.o make arrangements to return the original security bond 

of $1,000,000 provided in accordance with the Security Agreement dated February 22, 

2019. 'fhe Defendant waives all defenses and claims. with regard. to statute of 

limitations, laches1 or any othe1· arguments that any aspect of the charges is tim.e­

bru·1·ed. Finally, the Defendant waives any challenge to venue, 

15. Voluntariness of the Plea. The Defe.t;1:dant, through its a.uthorized 

representative, acknowledges. that it has entered into this Agreem~nt freely and 

voluntarily_ and that it has been fully advised by counsel, and that no threats or promises 

wern made to induce the Defendant to enter into the guilty plea called for by this 

Agreement. 

16. Factual Basis for Guilty Plea. The factual basis is contained in Exhibit A 

to this Plea Agreement. If this case were to proceed to trial, the government contends 

that it could prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

17. Completeness of Agreement. The government and the Defendant 

acknowledge that these terms constitute the' entire Agreement between the parties. No 

promises, agreements 01· conditions have been enter~d il');to othei' than those set forth in 

this Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all prior understandings, whether 

w1'ittcn 01· oral. This Agreement cannot be modified other than in a written, 

memorandum signed by the parties or on the record in Court. This Plea Agreement is 
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effective upon signature by the Defendant and all of the attorneys for the government. 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED 

DAVID C. WEI!:3S 

y:--l¼--- --+-f---+f-',.,..__--""---'lt----,,...---­
Edmond Falgow 
Assistant Unite . 

JEANE. WILLIAMS 
Deputy Assistant Attorney Gene1·al 
Enviroilment and Natlll·al ResoUl'ces Div. 
United States Department of Justice 

~,ffi@ll~ 
David P. Kel10e 
Senior · Trial Attorney 
Environmental Crimes Section 
Unite.d States Department of Justice 

ByillPll~ 
Stephen Da Ponte 
'l'rial Attorney 
Envil·onmental Crimes Section 
United. States Department of Justice 

Date; (v/ {fr CZ 

Date: { CJ / / S { { } 

On behalf of the Defendant Chartworld Shipping. Go1·po:ration ("Chartworld"), I have 
been authoriz-ed by a corporate 1·esolution to sign this Agi'.eement and bind Chartworld. 
Chartworld has been advised by its attorneys of Nederland' s Tights, of possible defenses1 

of the Senten.cing Guideline provisions, and of the consequences of enteri.n)r into this 

14 

Case 1:19-cr-00058-RGA   Document 135   Filed 10/15/19   Page 14 of 15 PageID #: 1635



Agreement. Ohartworld voluntarily ab'l'ees to all of the terms of this Agreement. No 
pxomises or inducements have been made to Chartwodd other than those contained in 
tlus Agreement. No one has thre · ned or forced Chartworld in any way to enter into 
this Agreemont. Chartworld is , tisfied by the 1:cpresentation of its ,attotneys in this 
matter. 

. I 
I am /ou • fol' Cha1,tworld Shipping Cm>poratio.n C'Chartwo:dd") and have discussed 
every p • 'f this Agreement with authorized representatives of Nederland. Further. I 
have . advised the o.uthorized :reptesentatives of Chartworld of their rights, of 
pos~ · afenses, of the Sentencing Gµide}ines' provisions, and of the conseq:uences of 
en ring into this Ag,:eement. To my knowledge, t he decision of Chartworld to enter 
into this Ag1•eement is informed and voluntary. 

L 
Chalos 

• los .,. Co, P,C. 
Counsel fo1· Defendant 
Chartwodd Shipping Co11>oration 

Date: ~/6..a...-Jr'+--+-h-
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